



# Guidelines on the management of pregnant and postpartum women with suspected Influenza

03/12/2024 V6.6

Version History			
Title of Guidance:		Guidelines on the management of pregnant and postpartum women with suspected Influenza	
Approved by:		Director of National Health Protection	
Version number:		6.6	
Publication Date:		03/12/2024	
Scheduled Review Date:		02/12/2025	
Electronic Location:		https://www.hpsc.ie/a- z/respiratory/influenza/seasonalinfluenza/guidance/pregnancyguidance/	
Version	Final Approval Date:	List section numbers and changes	
6.6	03/12/2024	<ul> <li>Update for Winter 2024/2025 influenza season.</li> <li>Align nomenclature to WHO</li> <li>Align to antiviral guidance for the treatment and prophylaxis of influenza</li> </ul>	
_			
_			

# Contents

Influenza during pregnancy and the postpartum period	4
Case definitions	5
Influenza-like illness	5
Acute Respiratory Infection	5
Testing/Diagnosis	6
Prevention	6
Treatment	7
Chemoprophylaxis	8
Pre-Delivery	9
Delivery	9
Postpartum	10
Neonatal Unit	12
Visitors	12
Discharge	13
References	14

# Influenza during pregnancy and the postpartum period

Pregnant women are at increased risk of severe and complicated influenza, including associated hospitalisation and death, compared to non-pregnant women of reproductive age. Normal physiological alterations in heart rate, lung capacity, and immunological function that occur in pregnancy put pregnant women at increased risk of being more severely affected by certain infections, including influenza.

Complications of influenza in pregnancy may include severe pneumonia, early labour (premature birth), reduced foetal growth, low birth weight stillbirth and maternal death. Premature birth can lead to long-term medical and social consequences. The risk of these complications is higher in the second and third trimesters of pregnancy and is greater for pregnant women with at-risk medical conditions.<sup>(1)</sup>

Postpartum women, who are in transition to normal heart, lung and immune function, are also at increased risk of severe and complicated influenza up to two weeks postpartum (including following pregnancy loss).

These guidelines provide recommendations for managing pregnant, postpartum and breastfeeding women presenting with an influenza-like illness (ILI) or confirmed influenza. The diagnosis of influenza should also be considered in all patients presenting with acute respiratory infections (ARI) regardless of their vaccine status. Of note, the most effective way to minimise the risks of influenza infection and associated complications during pregnancy is through vaccination. Influenza vaccination should be recommended and offered to all women pregnant at any time from October to April. The vaccine can be given at any stage of pregnancy.

### Case definitions

#### Influenza-like illness

Influenza-like illness (ILI) is defined as sudden onset of symptoms

AND at least one of the following four systemic symptoms:

- 1. fever or feverishness
- 2. malaise (a general feeling of being unwell)
- 3. headache
- 4. myalgia

AND at least one of the following three respiratory symptoms:

- 1. cough
- 2. sore throat
- 3. shortness of breath

## Acute Respiratory Infection \*

An Acute Respiratory Infection (ARI) is defined as:

Sudden onset of symptoms

AND At least one of the following four respiratory symptoms:

- 1. Cough
- 2. Sore throat
- 3. Shortness of breath
- 4. Coryza

#### AND

A clinician's judgement that the illness is due to an infection

Pregnant women should be advised of the signs and symptoms of ILI/ARI and encouraged to present early to their GP or maternity unit if they develop ILI/ARI symptoms or any respiratory symptoms after

<sup>\*</sup> ECDC/EC case definition, available online from: <a href="https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32018D0945&from=EN#page=24">https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32018D0945&from=EN#page=24</a>

close contact with a person who has ILI/ARI or laboratory confirmed influenza. They should be assessed, diagnosed and managed on clinical grounds, noting that there are a number of differential diagnoses for people presenting with ILI or ARI. Influenza typically involves symptoms such as fatigue, headache, muscle aches and pains and patients usually have a fever. In addition, during winter 2024/2025 COVID-19, influenza, Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) and other respiratory viruses continue to circulate and can be difficult to distinguish from symptoms alone without a laboratory test. This needs to be considered when a clinical assessment is being undertaken. The most effective way to avoid the risks of influenza infection is through vaccination.

## Testing/Diagnosis

Nose and throat viral swabs should be taken for all women admitted to hospital with ILI or ARI and for women with ILI or ARI being considered for hospital admission (whether for ILI/ARI or obstetric reason). COVID-19 and influenza can be difficult to distinguish from their symptoms alone, and require a laboratory test.

## Prevention

Influenza vaccine

The World Health Organization (WHO) has stated that pregnant women are one of the highest priority groups for seasonal influenza vaccination.<sup>(2)</sup>

In Ireland, the seasonal influenza vaccine is strongly recommended by the National Immunisation Committee (NIAC) for all pregnant women. Influenza vaccine can be administered at any stage of pregnancy during each influenza season. Pregnant women are recommended to receive the non-live influenza vaccine. As this is not a live vaccine, it is very safe in pregnancy. In the 2024/2025 season, this vaccine is the Quadrivalent Influenza Vaccine (QIV). Influenza vaccines recommended by the WHO are prepared each year, using virus strains similar to those considered most likely to circulate in the forthcoming season. Non-live quadrivalent influenza vaccines contain antigens from two type A and two type B virus strains. Pregnancy increases the risk of complications from influenza because of alterations in heart rate, lung capacity and immunological function. Influenza infection during pregnancy can lead to premature birth, lower birth weight, stillbirth and hospitalisation. The flu vaccine given during pregnancy has been shown to protect both the mother and her baby (up to 6 months old) from influenza infection and associated complications. It takes approximately two weeks after the vaccine has been given to be protected. See further information on influenza vaccine during pregnancy at

#### flupregleaflet.pdf

#### Treatment

Scientific evidence attests to adverse outcomes in pregnant women who develop influenza during pregnancy, including increased likelihood of ICU admission and death. Antiviral treatment is recommended for pregnant women or women up to two weeks postpartum (including following pregnancy loss) with suspected or confirmed severe influenza, and can be taken during any trimester of pregnancy.

During the influenza season, treatment for suspected severe influenza should not be delayed while awaiting laboratory test results. Empiric antiviral treatment should be started as soon as possible, ideally within 48 hours of symptom onset, as studies demonstrate that early initiation of treatment is more likely to confer benefit. (3) However, some studies of hospitalised patients with influenza, including an analysis of hospitalised pregnant women, suggest benefit from antiviral treatment even when started more than 48 hours after symptom onset. (3)

Multiple observational studies<sup>(4-13)</sup> have shown that antiviral treatment with oral oseltamivir or inhaled zanamivir is safe during pregnancy and does not increase the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes. <sup>(3)</sup> Oseltamivir remains the first line option for the vast majority of pregnant women with severe influenza and is generally well tolerated, although side effects can occur. There are no data suggesting that tolerability differs between pregnant and non-pregnant women. <sup>(14)</sup>

Standard dose and duration of treatment with oseltamivir is 75mg orally twice daily for 5 days. Hospitalised patients with severe influenza may require a longer duration of treatment, extension of treatment will be based on clinical assessment. For pregnant women who meet additional criteria for requiring zanamivir first line, further assessment (i.e. rapid diagnostics) and antiviral treatment should be discussed with a local infection specialist

For further guidance for the use of antivirals in pregnancy including definition of severe influenza, follow: "Guidance on the use of antiviral agents for the treatment and prophylaxis of influenza" on the HPSC website.

## Chemoprophylaxis

Post-exposure antiviral chemoprophylaxis can be considered for certain pregnant women and women who are up to two weeks postpartum (including following pregnancy loss) who have had close contact<sup>†</sup> with someone likely to have been infectious with influenza and who

- cannot receive an influenza vaccination due to a contraindication or because vaccine is not available, or
- have severe immune deficiencies or other medical conditions that make them unlikely to respond to influenza vaccination

Clinical judgement should be exercised in individual cases to determine if the benefit of receiving chemoprophylaxis outweighs the risk. Previous influenza vaccination does not preclude the use of post exposure prophylaxis. Pregnant women and women who are up to two weeks postpartum (including following pregnancy loss) who are given post-exposure chemoprophylaxis should be informed that the chemoprophylaxis lowers but does not eliminate the risk of influenza and that protection stops when the medication course is stopped. Those receiving chemoprophylaxis should seek advice from their doctor if they develop respiratory symptoms that might indicate Influenza infection.

An alternative approach for pregnant and postpartum women (up to two weeks postpartum, including following pregnancy loss) who have had close contact with a patient with laboratory confirmed influenza is to provide information on the early signs and symptoms of ILI/ARI and influenza, and advise them to contact their doctor immediately for evaluation and possible early anti- viral treatment if clinical signs or symptoms develop following a risk assessment. (3)

Oseltamivir is considered the drug of choice for influenza chemoprophylaxis in pregnant women. Standard dose and duration of oseltamivir chemoprophylaxis is 75mg orally once daily for 10 days. For further guidance see <u>"Guidance on the use of antiviral agents for the treatment and prophylaxis of influenza"</u> on the HPSC website.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> Close contact is defined as having cared for or lived with a person who has confirmed, probable or suspect influenza or having been in a setting where there is a high likelihood of contact with respiratory droplets of such a person, including having talked face-to-face with them.

## Pre-Delivery

- Prior to delivery, a hospitalised pregnant woman with ILI/ARI or influenza should be managed in accordance with the <u>Infection Prevention and Control</u>, <u>National Clinical Guideline No. 30</u> Standard and droplet precautions, with additional precautions for aerosol generating procedures (AGPs) should be employed. This includes patient placement in a single room, <u>cough etiquette</u> including wearing a facemask if being transported outside of their room and additional personal protective equipment (PPE) for staff. Facilities should refer to the <u>Infection Prevention and Control</u>, <u>National Clinical Guideline No. 30</u> for more detailed information.
- Healthcare staff entering rooms of pregnant women with suspected or confirmed influenza should adhere to standard and droplet precautions, including wearing a facemask, performing hand hygiene, wearing gloves for any contact with potentially infectious material and wearing a gown for any activity where contact with the patients' body fluids may occur.
- International recommendations in relation to the duration of droplet precautions for cases of influenza vary from country to country. As a general rule, the duration of isolation precautions for hospitalised patients with confirmed influenza should be continued for 5 days after illness onset. This may be extended to 7 days for patients who are immunosuppressed following consultation with their doctor. Patients on droplet precautions should be discharged from hospital when clinically indicated, NOT based on the period of potential infectiousness or recommended duration of droplet precautions.
- Patients should be asked to restrict visitors in so far as is possible. Family members and other visitors should be informed of the risks of influenza virus transmission and instructed to adhere to respiratory hygiene and cough etiquette, hand hygiene, and use of PPE according to local policy.

## Delivery

- Patients with suspected or confirmed influenza who are in labour and/or in the delivery suite should remain on droplet precautions. Mothers should not be asked to wear a mask during labour and birth.
   Healthcare staff in the delivery suite should adhere to Standard and Droplet Precautions including practicing hand hygiene before and after handling the newborn.
- If delivery is by planned induction or elective caesarean section, consider deferral, if appropriate. This
  decision should be taken at senior level weighing up obstetric indication for delivery with risk to mother
  and baby of delivery while unwell.

## Postpartum

- Infection control precautions for mothers with ILI/influenza should continue as above.
- Breast feeding should be strongly encouraged. Appropriate efforts should be made to reduce the likelihood of the baby becoming infected, while minimising the effect on the mother-baby relationship.
   These include:
  - o Treating the mother to reduce the risk of transmission.
  - The mother and baby should sleep at least 2 metres apart (6 feet), in separate beds in the same room (at least while in hospital). When breast feeding, bathing, caring for, cuddling, or otherwise being within 2 metres of the baby, the mother should wear a surgical mask and clean her hands thoroughly with alcohol hand rub or soap and water before interacting with the baby.
  - o The mother should try to avoid coughing near the baby and practice cough etiquette.
  - If expressing breast milk using a pump, this should be cleaned as per the manufacturer's instructions.
  - While these measures can be ceased when the mother is no longer infectious, usually five days following symptom onset, continued good hygiene should be encouraged at all times.
  - o These measures should also apply to any carer or family member with influenza.
  - Mothers requiring hospital care should not be prematurely discharged because they have influenza.
  - If discharged while still infectious, mothers should be provided with a sufficient supply of surgical masks to take home.

Post exposure prophylaxis for neonates born to mothers with laboratory confirmed Influenza

A particular clinical challenge arises with regard to the neonate if a pregnant woman develops laboratory confirmed seasonal influenza shortly before the onset of labour. The potential mode of transmission to the neonate in such a scenario is via direct contact with the infected respiratory secretions of the mother rather than via breastmilk. The Summary of Product Characteristics (SPC) for Tamiflu® (oseltamivir) oral suspension states that the medicine can be used for post-exposure prevention of influenza in infants aged over 1 year old; therefore, oseltamivir prophylaxis for infants aged less than 1 year old would be an off-label use. Treatment of seasonal influenza in children, including full term neonates, is however, specified in the SPC for capsules and Tamiflu® (oseltamivir) 6mg/ml powder for oral suspension. Relenza® (zanamivir) inhalation powder is not licensed for treatment or prophylaxis in children less than 5 years of age.

There are three potential options which may be considered by mothers and clinicians in relation to neonates born to mothers with laboratory confirmed Influenza.

- Oseltamivir oral suspension for post-exposure prophylaxis in the neonate, which may be an
  unlicensed indication if used outside a pandemic influenza outbreak. As prophylaxis reduces but
  does not eliminate the risk of infection, infants should be closely monitored for signs and
  symptoms of Influenza.
- 2. Physical separation of the symptomatic mother and asymptomatic neonate until 5 days after symptom onset.
  - Disadvantages would include the effect on the mother baby relationship and for the neonate not being able to benefit from breastfeeding-related transfer of immune factors and nutrients. Throughout the course of temporary separation, and if the mother is severely ill, an option is that all feedings may be provided by a healthy caregiver where possible. These considerations should be included in the discussion with the mother. Women should be encouraged to express breastmilk so that the neonate can receive the benefits of breastmilk, and to maintain the mother's milk supply in order that breastfeeding can continue once mother and baby are reunited. Detailed advice on use of Oseltamivir during breastfeeding should be sought from the Summary of Product Characteristics (SPC) here.
- 3. No prophylaxis for the neonate and no separation of neonate and mother.

This will require careful monitoring for symptoms of influenza, a discussion in advance with the mother about prompt antiviral treatment of the neonate, and advance arrangements for rapidly accessing oseltamivir oral suspension if required (as this is more readily available via hospital pharmacies than community pharmacies). There should also be consideration of laboratory testing of a symptomatic neonate, as per existing local arrangements.

In both scenarios 1 and 3, which doesn't involve physical separation between mother and baby, the mother should be advised of measures to reduce risk of transmission, including respiratory hygiene and cough etiquette, use of facemasks during close contact including during breastfeeding, and handwashing with soap and water, particularly before breast feeding or touching any other item that the neonate may come in contact with. If expressing breast milk using a pump, this should be cleaned as per the manufacturer's instructions.

Decisions regarding the most appropriate course of action should be made on a case-by-case basis and must involve detailed discussion between the mother and physician regarding the relative advantages and disadvantages of each potential option. This advice does not constitute a specific endorsement of the routine use of oseltamivir oral suspension for prophylaxis in neonates, but recognises that this may occur as an off-label use in specific circumstances. Such clinical scenarios highlight the importance of seasonal influenza vaccination of pregnant women; previous research has shown that this was 71% effective in preventing influenza infection in infants aged less than 6 months in England<sup>(15-16)</sup>.

Further advice on the use of antiviral agents for the treatment and prophylaxis of Influenza can be found here.

## Neonatal Unit

- Symptomatic mothers, care givers, and family members should not enter the neonatal unit. Digital technology may be used for mother to see her baby.
- Appropriate signage should be displayed at the entrance to the neonatal unit to discourage visitors with ILI/ARI from entering.
- If a newborn infant of a mother with suspected or confirmed influenza is housed in the hospital nursery instead of the mother's room, infants without symptoms of influenza can be cared for by a non-ill person using standard precautions and should be closely observed for signs of infection.
- A newborn that develops symptoms should be placed on droplet and contact precautions and be assessed by a paediatrician.

#### **Visitors**

As a general rule during an outbreak, visitors are prohibited from attending the labour unit as they are a possible source of influenza infection for patients. In certain cases, they may be allowed but they should be limited to persons who are necessary for the patient's emotional wellbeing and clinical care. If they are allowed then the following is recommended:

- Visitors should be instructed to limit their movement within the facility.
- Appropriate signage to discourage those visitors with ARI/ILI from entering the hospital should be
  placed prominently at hospital entrances.
- Facilities should provide instruction, before visitors enter patients' rooms, on hand hygiene,
   limiting surfaces touched, and use of PPE while in the patient's room.

## Discharge

- The NIAC recommend that all pregnant women should receive an influenza vaccine at any stage of pregnancy during the influenza season. One influenza vaccine is recommended in each influenza season. For women who are postpartum, influenza vaccine should only be offered to those who are in recommended groups as per the NIAC guidelines. <a href="https://www.rcpi.ie/Healthcare-Leadership/NIAC/Immunisation-Guidelines-for-Ireland">https://www.rcpi.ie/Healthcare-Leadership/NIAC/Immunisation-Guidelines-for-Ireland</a>.
- The postpartum woman and baby should be discharged from hospital as soon as it is safe to do so.
- The postpartum woman should be given the remaining course of antivirals and advised to complete them.
- Ensure that the GP, home care team and Public Health Nurse (PHN) are informed of the discharge and influenza status of the postpartum woman and newborn baby.
- Ensure the postpartum woman has information on:
  - o Influenza and knows that it is important to contact the GP/hospital promptly if the newborn baby develops ARI/ILI symptoms.
  - Avoiding contact, as far as possible, with any individuals in the home who develop ARI/ILI symptoms to minimise exposure to herself and the newborn baby.
  - Hand hygiene and respiratory etiquette when having contact with the newborn baby.
  - Endeavouring, if possible, to have vaccinated, non-ill adults provide care to the newborn at home if the mother develops ARI/ILI symptoms until the mother's illness resolves.

#### References

- 1.Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD). Pregnant Women & Influenza (Flu) [Internet]. CDC. 2022. Available from: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/flu/highrisk/pregnant.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/flu/highrisk/pregnant.htm</a>
- 2.Regan AK, Moore HC, de Klerk N, Omer SB, Shellam G, Mak DB, et al. Seasonal Trivalent Influenza Vaccination During Pregnancy and the Incidence of Stillbirth: Population-Based Retrospective Cohort Study. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2016 Mar 30;62(10):1221–7.
- 3.Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD). Recommendations for Obstetric Health Care Providers Related to Use of Antiviral Medications in the Treatment and Prevention of Influenza [Internet]. CDC. 2022. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/flu/professionals/antivirals/avrec\_ob.htm
- 4.Beau A-B, Hurault-Delarue C, Vial T, Montastruc J-L, Damase-Michel C, Lacroix I. Safety of oseltamivir during pregnancy: a comparative study using the EFEMERIS database. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2014 Feb 11;121(7):895–900.
- 5.Dunstan H, Mill A, Stephens S, Yates L, Thomas S. Pregnancy outcome following maternal use of zanamivir or oseltamivir during the 2009 influenza A/H1N1 pandemic: a national prospective surveillance study. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2014 Mar 7;121(7):901–6.
- 6.Ehrenstein V, Kristensen NR, Monz BU, Clinch B, Kenwright A, Sørensen HT. Oseltamivir in pregnancy and birth outcomes. BMC Infectious Diseases [Internet]. 2018 Oct 16 [cited 2019 Nov 1];18(1). Available from: <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6192366/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6192366/</a>
- 7.Graner S, Svensson T, Beau AB, Damase-Michel C, Engeland A, Furu K, et al. Neuraminidase inhibitors during pregnancy and risk of adverse neonatal outcomes and congenital malformations: population based European register study. BMJ [Internet]. 2017 Feb 28 [cited 2019 Nov 1];j629. Available from: <a href="https://www.bmj.com/content/356/bmj.j629">https://www.bmj.com/content/356/bmj.j629</a>
- 8.Greer LG, Sheffield JS, Rogers VL, Roberts SW, McIntire DD, Wendel GD. Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes After Antepartum Treatment of Influenza With Antiviral Medications. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2010 Apr;115(4):711–6.
- 9.Saito S, Minakami H, Nakai A, Unno N, Kubo T, Yoshimura Y. Outcomes of infants exposed to oseltamivir or zanamivir in utero during pandemic (H1N1) 2009. American Journal of Obstetrics and HSE Health Protection Surveillance Centre. <a href="https://www.hpsc.ie">www.hpsc.ie</a>
  Page 14 of 16

Gynecology [Internet]. 2013 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Apr 1];209(2):130.e1-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23583838/

- 10. Svensson T, Granath F, Stephansson O, Kieler H. Birth outcomes among women exposed to neuraminidase inhibitors during pregnancy. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety. 2011 Jul 19;20(10):1030–4.
- 11. Tanaka T, Nakajima K, Murashima A, Garcia-Bournissen F, Koren G, Ito S. Safety of neuraminidase inhibitors against novel influenza A (H1N1) in pregnant and breastfeeding women. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2009 Jun 15;181(1-2):55–8.
- 12. Wollenhaupt M, Chandrasekaran A, Tomianovic D. The safety of oseltamivir in pregnancy: an updated review of post-marketing data. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety [Internet]. 2014 Jul 4 [cited 2019 Nov 1];23(10):1035–42. Available from:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/pds.3673

13.Xie H, Yasseen AS, Xie R, Fell DB, Sprague AE, Liu N, et al. Infant outcomes among pregnant women who used oseltamivir for treatment of influenza during the H1N1 epidemic. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology [Internet]. 2013 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Apr 1];208(4):293.e1-7. Available from: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23333544/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23333544/</a>

14.UK Health Security Agency . Guidance on use of antiviral agents for the treatment and prophylaxis of seasonal influenza [Internet]. 2021 Nov. Available from:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/1058443/ukhsa-guidance-antivirals-influenza-11v4.pdf

15. Creanaga AA, Johnson TF, Graitcer FC, et.al. (2010). Severity of 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus infection in pregnant women. Obstetrics and Gynaecology. April 2010- volume 115 – issue 4, pp 717-726.

http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/pages/articleviewer.aspx?year=2010&issue=04000&article=00008&type=abstract

16. Darera G, Zhao H, Andrews N, et.al. (2014). Rapid Communications. Effectiveness of seasonal influenza vaccination during pregnancy in preventing influenza infection in infants, England 2013/14. Euro. Surveill.2014;19(45), article 1.

http://www.eurosurveillance.org/images/dynamic/EE/V19N45/art20959.pdf